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CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT
MINNEAPOLIS, MINNESOTA

UNITED STATES DISTRICY COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, :
v. i no.d K 04172 I/ R
AGA MEDICAL CORPORATION, DEFERRID PROSECUTION

AGREEMENT .

Defendant.

vs se eu ws

Defendant AGA Medical Corporation (“AGA™), s Mimnesota corporation, by its
undersipned attomeys, pursuant fo authority granted by AGA's Board of Directots, and the
United States Department of Justics, Criminal Division, Fraud Section (the “Department of
Justice” or “the Department”) enter info this Deferred Prosecufion Agreament (“ihe
Agreement”). The terms and conditions of this Agreement are as follows:

Criminal Information and Accepfance of Respousibility
1.-  AGA ecceptis and acknowledges that the United States will file a twa-count

criminal Information in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota charging
AQGA with conspiracy to commit #n offense against the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C, §
371, that is, to violate the Poreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (“FCPA™), as amended, 15
U.S.C. § 78dd-2(2)(1) (Count Ono); and violating the ECPA, 15 U.S.C, § 78dd-2(a)(1) and 18
U.5.C. § 2 (Count Two). In so doing, AGA knowingly waives its right to indictment on theso
charges, 45 well 5 &)l rights to a spaedy trial pursuant to the Sixth Amendment to the United
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States Constitution, Titls 18, United States Code Section 3161, and Federal Rule of Criminal
Procedure 48(b). In addition, AGA consents mtheﬁlingofthelnfonnaﬁnnandthel.greement
in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota.

2. AGA admits, accopts and acknowledges that it is responsible for the acts of its
officers, employees and agents, as sot forth in the Statement of Facts attached hersto as
“Attachment A,” sad incorporated by refirence into this Agreement, and that the ficts described
in Attachment A are true and sccurate. Should the Department initiate the prosscution that is
deferred by this Agresment, AGA agrecs that it will noither coutest the admissibility of, nor
contradict, in auy such proceeding, the Statement of Faots.

Texm of the Agreement

3. This Agreament is effective for & period beginning on the latest date on which any
party signs if and ending three (3) yoars and séven (7) calendar days from that date (the “Term™).
However, AGA agrees that, in the event that the Department determines, in its sole discretion,
that AGA has knowingly violated any provision of this Agreement, an extension or exteasions of
the term of the Agrooment mity be inposed by Departmeant,-in its sole discretio, for up bo & tatsl
additional time period of one-year. Any exteusion of the Agrecmont extends all terms of this
Agreement for an equivalent period. Conversely, in the event the Department finds, in its sole
discretion, that there exists a changs in circurostances sufficient to eliminate the need for the
Monitor, and the other provisions of this Agreement have beon satisfied, the Term of the
Agreement may be terminated early.




Voluntary Cooperation

4. The Department enters into this Agreement based on the individual facts and
circumstances presented by this case and AGA. Among the facts considered were: (a) AGA
voluntarily and timely'disclopsd the rhisconduct desoribed in the Information end Statement of
Pacts; (b)) AGA conducted o thorough intemal investigation of that misconduct; (¢} AGA
reporiod all of its findings to the Department; (d) AGA cooperated in the Departwent’s
investigation of this matier; (€) AGA has undertaken remedial measures as conteniplated by this
Agreement; and (£} AGA. bas agreed to continue to cooperate with the Department in any
investigation of the conduct of AGA and its directors, officers, employees, agents, eomul(ants,
mmmmmmm relating to violations of the FCPA, |

S.  During the Term of this Agreement, AGA agrees to cooperate fully with the
Department, and oy other muthority or agency, domestic or foreign, desigoated by the
Department investigating AGA, or any of its pressnt and former directors, officets, employeos,
ageats, consultants, comtractors and subcontractors, or any other party, in any and all matters
relating to corrupt payments, AGA agrcea that ifs cooperation shall inolude, but is not Huxited 10,
thefollcm'lng.

8.  AGA shall trathfully disclose all information with respect to it aotivitics
and those of its present and former directurs, officers, employess, agents, comsultants,
contractors and subcontractors, concerning el matters releting to corrupt payments, related false
books and records, aud inadequate internal controls sbout which AGA hes any knowledge or




about which the Department mey inquire. This obligation of truthful disclosure inclades the
obligation of AGA. to provide to the Department, upon request, any docnment, record or other
" tengible evidence relating to such cormupt payments, books and records, and internsl controls
about which the Departiuent may inquire of AGA.

i The Department specifically reserves the right to request that AGA.
provide the Deputmont with access to informntion, documents; records, facilities and/or
employees that may be subject to a claim of attomey-client privilegs and/or the attorney work-
product dootrine.

il Upon written notico to the Department, AGA. specifically resarves
the right to withhold access to formation, documents, recards, facilities and/or smployees
besed upon an assertion of a valid claim of sttomey-client privilege or application of the attorney
wotk-product doctzine, Such notice shall inchude a general description of the mature of the
information, documents, records, facilities and/ar employees that are being withheld, ss wall as
the basis for the claim,

. In tho event that AGA withholds acosss 10 tho information,
documenty, records, facilities aud/or employees ofAGA. the Departiment may consider this fact
in determining whether AGA has fully cooperated with the Department,

' iv.  Bxcept as provided in this paragraph, AGA shall not withhold
from the Department any information, documents, records, focilities and/or employees on the
basis of an attomey-client privilege or work product claim.




b. Upon request of the Department, with respect to any issue relovant to its

inveatigation of corrupt paymests in connection with the operations of AGA, related books and

*records and inadequate intemal controls, AGA shall designate knowledgeable employoes, agents

or attorneys fo provide to the Department the information and materials described in Paragraph

5(s) sbove, on bebalf of AGA. It is further understood that AGA must at all times provide
complets, truthful and accurate information. )

c. With respect to any issus relevant io the Department’s investigation of
cotrupt pm in conmection with the operations of AGA, or any of its present or former
subgidiaries or affiliates, AGA shall use its best offorts (o make available for interviews or
testimonty, as yequested by the Department, present or former directors, officers, pmployees,
agenis and consultants of AGA as well as the directors, officers, mmployees, agents snd
consultants of contractors and subcontractors, This obligation includes, but is not limited to,
swom testimony before a federal grand jury or in federal trials, as well as interviews with federsl
law euforcement authoritiss. Cooperation under this paragraph will include identification of
Mmmeawho,toﬂ:clm(;v!edgc of AGA, may have meterial information regarding the mattes
under investigation.

d.  'With respect to any information, testimony, documents, records ar other
tangible cvidence provided to tthepartmentp\mnttothisAMeuz.AﬁAmmtomy
and all disclosnres to other governmusatal suthoritics, whether United States authorities or those
of a foreign govemment, of such materials as the Departmeat, in its sole discretion, shall desm
appropriate.
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6. AGA agrees to pay & monetary psualty in the emount of $2,000,000 to.lhnUnited
States Treasury within ten days of the execution of this Agrsement. The $2,000,000 penalty is
final and shall not be refunded: (a) if the Department moves to dismiss the Information pursuent
to this Agreement; or (b) should the Dopartment later dstenmine that AGA has Smched this
Agreament and bring 2 prosecution against AGA. Furthermore, nothing in this Agreement ghall
be desmed an agreement by the Department that the $2,000,000 amount is the maximum penalty
‘that may be impossd in any such prosecution, end the Department ia not prechuded from arguing
that the Court should impost a higher fine, slthongh tho Department agrecs that under those
circumstnnoss, it will recommend to the Court that the amount pid under this Agreement should
beanninstanyﬁmtheCmnﬁmpomasputqfajudgnmL
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7. In return for the full and trathful cooperation of AGA, and complisnce with the
terms and conditions of this Agxeemengthebopmwtagrmnotmﬁnwinﬁormaﬁm
relntedtoﬂ:ceonductdec';n'beﬁinthamchedsutememoﬂm:gainstAGAhmmehﬂ
or civil cese, exoept: (a) in & prosecution for pegjury or obstruction of justice; (b) in a
prosecution for making a false statement; (0) in & prosecution or other proceading relating to any
crime of viclence; or (d) in = prosecution or other proceeding relating to = violation of any
provisiunof'riﬂe%ofﬂ;eUniﬁedSta!e:Code.. In sddition, the Dopartment agrees, except as
provided herein, that it will not bring any criminal or ¢ivil cass agrinst AGA related to the
conduct of prescat end former directors, officess, employess, agents, consultants, contreotors and .




subcontractors, 83 deacribed in the attached Statement of Facts, o relating to information AGA
disclosed to the Department prior to the dats on which this Ageeement was signed. '

a This paragraph does not provide any protection against prosecution for
any corTupt payments ot'falae acoounting, if any, made in the future by AGA, or any of its
directors, officers, employess, ugents, consultants, contractors and subconiractors irrespective of
whether disclosed by AGA, pursuant to the terms of this Agresment.

b.  This peragraph also does not provids any protection agsinst prosecution
for any corrupt payments made in the pest which aro not described in ths attached Statesment of
Facts or were not disclosed to the Department prior to the dats on which this Agresment was
signed. In addifion, this peragraph does not provide eny protection against eximinal prosecution
of any present or former director, officer, emiployes, shareholder, agent or consultant of AGA for
any violations comumitted by them.

Cornopate Compliance Program

B. AGA represcats that it hes implemented and will continee fo implemsot 2
compliance and ethics pmm designed to detect and preveat violations of the FCPA. and other
spplicable enti-corruption laws throughout its operstions, including those of its affiliates, joint
ventures, and thoze of its contractors and subcontractors, with responsibilities that include
interactions with forcign officials. Luplementation of these policies and procedurea shall not be
construed In any futmre enforcement proceeding es providing immunity or ammesty for any
 cximes not disslosed to the Department s of tho dats of siguing of this Agreement for which
AGA would otherwise be respansible.




9. In order to address deficiencies in its intemal controls, policies and procedures
reganding compliance with tho FCPA and otber applicable anti-corruption laws, AGA represents
thet it has undertaken, or will undertake in the near-fixture, i 8 manner consistent with all of its
obligations under this Agreement, a review of the existing intemal comtrols, policies and
procedures within AGA. Where pecessary and sppropriate, AGA will adopt new or modify
existing internal controls, policies and procedures in order to ensure that AGA maintains: (a) a
system of intemal sccounting controls designed to cusure the meking snd keeping of fair and
accurate books, records and acoounts; aﬁ (b) a rigorous anti-corruption compliance sode
designed o detsct and deter violations of the FCPA. and other applicable anti-corruption laws.
The intemal cootrols system sud compliance code will include, but not be lmited to, the
minimum elements set forth in Attachinent C, which is incorporated by reference into this
Agreomont, .

Independent Corporate Monitor

10. AGA agrm 1o eagage an independent corporats monitor (“the Mouilm“) within
mdy(ﬁO)ukadudaysofmgnmgthsAmemm Wiﬂnnthkty@())ealcndardzys after the
signing of this Agreament, and after consultation with the Department, AGA will propose to the
Department a candidato to serve as the Monitor. The Monitor shall have, at a mininum, the
following qualifications:

a demonstrated expsartiss with respect to the FCPA, including experience
counseling on FCPA issues;




b. expetience designing and/or reviewing corporate compliance policies,
procedures and internal controls, including FCPA-specific policies, procedures and internal
controls;

c. the ability to access and deploy resources as necessary to discharge the
Monitor’s duties a5 described in the Agresment; and

é sufficient independeace from AGA to emsuro effective aud impartial
performance of the Monitor's duties as described in the Agreement. :

11.  The Department refaing the right, in its sole discrefion, to accspt or reject any
Momitor proposed by AGA pursuent to the Agreement. In the eveat the Department rejects a
proposed monitor, AGA ghall proposs another candidate within ten (10) calendar days efter
recsiving notics of the rejection. This process shall continue until a Monitor acceptable to all
perties is chosen, The Monitor's tesm shall be threo (3) yoars from the date on which this
Agreement was signed, subject to extension or early termination as described in paragraph 3.
The Monitor’s duties and authority, and the obligations of AGA with respect to the Monitor and
the Department, mset;'c'mh in Attachment D, which is incorporated by refezence into this
Agxeeﬁwnt.

Deferved Progecution

4 12. Inconsiderstionoft (g) the past and fitture coopecation of AGA described in
Paragraphs 4 and § ebove; (b) AGA’s payment of a monetary penalty of $2,000,000; and ()
AGA’s adoption and maintenanoe of remedial measures, and indopondent review and sudit of




such measures, including the compliance cods and reviow by the Monitor described in
Paragraphs § through 11 above, the Departrent agrees that any prosecution of AGA for the
conduct set forth in the attachod Statement of Facts, and for the conduot relating to information
that AGA disclosed to the Department, prior to the signing of this Agreemeat, bs and hareby is
deferred for the Term of this Agreement,

13.  The Departmend further agrees that if AGA fully complics with all of its
obligations under this Agreament, the Department will not contimue the criminal prosecution
againgt AGA described in Paragraph 1 and, aftar the Term, this Agreement shall expire and the
Department will move to dismiss the criminal Information pwdmg against AGA. '

Breach of the Aereement

14,  If, during the Term of this Agreement, the Department determines, iu its sole
discretion, that AGA bas committed any feloay wndet foderal Iaw subsequent o the siguiug of
this Agreement, hzs, at any time, provided deliberately fulse, incomplete or misleading
information, or has otherwise breached ths Agresmeot, AGA shell thereafter be subject to
prosecution formyfedu;icﬁninalviolaﬁmofwhichthe Department has knowledge. Any
such prosecutions may be premissd on information provided by AGA. Any such prosecution
that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of limitetions on the date of the signing of this
Agresment may be commenced against AGA notwithstanding the expiration of the statute of
limitations between the signing of this Agreement and the expiration of the Term plus one year.
Thus, by signing this Agreement, AGA agrees that the statuto of limitations with respect to any
prosecution that is not time-barced on the dato of this Agreccent shall be tolled for the Term
plus one year,

10




15.  Inthe event that the Department determines that AGA has breached this
Agreement: (g) all statements made by or on bebalf of AGA to the Department or to ths Court,
including the attached Statement of Facts, and any testimony givea by AGA before a gramd jury
or any tribunal, at any legislative hearings whether prior or subsequent to this Agreement, or any
leada derived from such statements or testimony, shall be admissible in evidence in any aud all
criminal proceedings brought by the Department against AGA; and (b) AGA sball not assert any
claim under the United States Constitation, Rule 11(f) of ths Federal Rules of Criminal.
Procedure, Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Bvidenice or any other federal zule, that statemazats

 made by or on bebalf of AGA prior or subscquent to this Agrecment, and any leads derived
therefrom, should be suppressed. The decision whether condnct or statements of auy individual
will be imputed to AGA for the purpose of determining whether AGA has violeted any provision
of this Agreoment shall be in the sole discretion of the Department, '

16. AGA acknowledges that the Department has made no rapresentations, assurances
or promisca conceming what sentence may be imposed by ths Court if AGA breaches thia
Agreemmtandtbismﬁe;;:roeeedsmjudm AGA ficther acknowledges that sy such
sentence ig solely wifhin the discretion of the Court and that nothing in this Agresment binds or
testricts the Court in the exerciso of such djscretion. |

Sule or Merger of AGA

17. AGAam&atinmewenticseus,metgos,otuansmmwmbmnﬁnnym
of its business operations as they exist as of the date of this Agreement, whether such sals is
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structured as a stock or asset sale, merger or transfer, it shall includs in any contract for sale,
merger or transfer 2 provision binding the purchaser, or any sucoessar in interest thereto, to the
obligations described in this Agreement.

- Rublic Btatements by AGA

18.  AGA expressly agrees that it shall not, through preseat or future atiomeys,

directors, officers, employees, agents or any other petson authorized to speak fr AGA make any
public stetement, in litigation or otherwiss, contradicting the soceptance of respongibility by
AGA sot forth sbove or the facts desoribed in the attached Statsment of Facte. Any such
cantredictory statement shall, subject to curo rights of AGA described below, constituts a breach
of this Agreement and AGA thercafter shall be subject to prosscution as set forth in Paragraphe
13 und 14 of this Agreement. The decision whether any public statement by any such person
contradicting  fact contained in the Statement of Facts will be imputed to AGA for the purpose
ofdaminingwheﬂ:uthcthebnachadmiswuhdlba at the sols discretion of the
Departmsat. IftbaDepamnentdetermmesthatapublinmmbymymhpmun
comdwtsmwhokormpaﬁnmmntmdinﬁwmoﬂmmowmt
shall 50 notify AGA, and AGA may avoid & breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating
such statement(s) within five (5) busincss days sfter notification. Consistent with the obligations
of AGA a5 set forth above, AGA shall be permitted to raise defenses and to assert affirmative
claims in civil end regulatory procecdings releting to the matters sst forth in the Statement of
Facts. This paragraph does oot spply to any statement mads by any present or foner employee
of AGA in the courss of any criminal, regulatory or civil case initiated against such individual,
unless such individual is spesking on behalf of AGA.

12




19.  Incomnection with this Agreement, AGA shell not issue a press release unless it
first determines that the text of the relcase is acceptebls to the Department.

Limitations o ffect of o0

20,  This Agreement is binding on AGA aud the Department but specifically does not
bind any other federal agencics, or any state, local or foreign law snforcement or regulatory
agencies, although the Department will bring the cooperation of AGA and its compliance with
its other obligations under this Agreement, to the attention of such agencies and autherities if
requested to do 50 by AGA.

Complete Apreement

21.  This Agroement sets forth all the tarms of the Deferred Prosecution Agresment
between AGA and the Department. No amendments, modifications or additions to this
Agreemeat shall be valid unless they ere in writing and signed by the Department, the atiomeys
for AGA and a duly authorized representative of AGA.

- Nofice

22. Anymﬁc:tombepmmnnduﬂﬂs Agreement shall be given by personal
delivery, overnight delivery by & recognired delivery service or registered or certified mail, in
each cage, for the Departmont, addrassed to Mark F. Mendelsohin (or his sucoessor), Depaty
Chief, Fraud Section, Criminal Division, U.S. Department of Justice, fourth floor, 1400 New

13




York Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20005 and, for AGA,.nddressed to Ronald B. Lund,
General Counsel, AGA Medical Corporation, Notice shall be effective upon actuel receipt by

AGA.

AGREED:

FOR AGA MEDICAL CORPORATION:

B ‘» 0
& Kelly, LLP :
Counsel for AGA Medicat Corporation

FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE:

STEVEN A. TYRRELL
Chief, Fraud Section

P G

David Bybes -
Trial Attornsy, Fraud Section

William B. Jacobson
Assistent Chief

Unitsd Statss Department of Justice
Fraund Seotion, Criminal Division
10® & Constitution Avenus, NW
Washington, D.C. 20530

(202) 514-7023

Filed at Minneapolis, Minnesota, on this L_ day of June, 2008.
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OFFICER’'S CERTIFICATE

I bave read this Agresment and carefully reviewed every part of it with counsel for AGA
Medical Corporation (“AGA™). I understand the texms of this Agreemeant and voluntarily agree,
on behelf of AGA, to each of its tarms. Before signing this Agreement, I consulted with the
attorney for AGA. The attomey fully advised me of the rights of AGA, of possible defenses, of
the Sentencing Guidelines” provisions, and of the consequences of entering into this Agreemut.

I have carefully reviewed thiz Agresment with the Board of Directors of AGA. I have
advised, and caused outsids counsel for AGA to advise, that Board fully of the uglm of AGA, of
possible defenses, of the Sentoncing Guklelines® provislons, and of ths consequences of entering
into (be Agreemont. _

No promises or inducsments have been made other than those contained in this
Agresment. Purthermore, no one bas threatened or forced me, ot to my knowledge any pesson
anthorizing thiz Agresment on behalf of AGA, in eny way to enfer into this Agrecment, Lsm
also satisfind with the attorney’s representetion i this roatter. I certify that I am an officer of
AGA and that I have bemdnﬂyauthonmd by AGA to oxecute thia Agreewent on bebalf of

AGA,
Date: f),m , L 2008
AGA Medical Corporation

Id B, sel




CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

1 em ocounsel for AGA Medical Corporation (“AGA") in the mamr covered by this
Agrecment. In connection with such representation, I have examined relevant AGA documents
and have discussed this Agreement with the AGA Bourd of Directors. Bused on my review of
the foregoing materials and discussions, I am of the opinion that: the representative of AGA has
been duly autharized to enter into this Agreement on behalf of AGA and that thic Agreement bas
been dly and validly authorized, exccuted, ad delivered on bebalf of AGA snd js 2 valid and
binding obligation of AGA. Further, I have carefully reviewed this Agreement with the Board of
Directors and General Counsel of AGA. 1have fally advised them of the rights of AGA, of
possible defenses, of the Senteacing Guidelinas® provisions and of the conssquences of entering
into this Agrcement. To my knowlodge, the decision of AGA to enter into this Agreament iz an
informed end voluatary ons. |

Date: #,_.‘z , 2008
’ . Stanley
Jacks

Counsel fur AGA Medical Corporation




ATTACHMENT A
STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following Statement of Pacts is incorporated by this reference as part of the
Deferred Prosecation Agreement (“the Agrsement”) between the United States Department of
Justice, Criminal Division, Fraud Section (“the Department™) and AGA Medical Corporation
("AGA™ mdﬁaeparﬁeehuebyamandsﬁpﬂﬂeﬂmt&efoﬂuﬁnxinfcmaﬁnniswomd
accurate, As set forth in Paregraph 2 of the Agreement, AGA aocepts and acknowledges that it
- is responsible for the acts of its efficers, crmployees and agents as got forth below.

 Should the Department initiate the prosecution thatis deforred by this Agresment, AGA
agrees that it will neither contest the admissibility of, nor contradict, this Statoment of Facts in
any such proceeding.

.Ifﬂxiamwerm to proceed to trial, the United States would prove beyond .
reagonable doubt, by admissible evidence, the facts alleged in the Criminal Information filed
contemporanecusly with this Agreeiment. This evidenios would establish the following:

1 AGA MEBICAL CORPORATION (“AGA™) was incozporated in
1995 in Minnesota, had its principal place of business in Golden Valley, Miznesots, and was a
“domestio concem™ as that term ig nsed in the FCPA, 15 US.C.§ 78dd-2(h)(1)}(B).

2.  AGA mamdectured and gold medical devicos for the minimally invesive
treatment of congenital heart defects. AGA marketed and sold its products in over 90 countriss,
including the People’s Republic of China (“China™), through a network of local distributors end

3 AGA maintained email servers at its Golden Villey, Minnesots, headquariers
and alt smail disected to AGA employces wes sent to thess email servers.




-

4 From at least March 2000, through in or about late 2002, AGA applied to the
State Intellectnal Property Office of the People’s Republic of China (“the Chinese Patent
Office™), an agency of the Chinese government, for patents on sevenal of ite products,

5 From in ar about 1995 to the preseat, “Officer A," a U.S. citizen, was a high-
ranking officer and part owner of AGA, who had suthority to set company palicy, contesct with
distributors, hite and fire employees, set sales prices, and approve eeles practices in fareign
countries. :

6. From in or about 1997, through in or about November 2001, “Employse B," n
U.S. citizen, was the hoad of infernational sales for AGA.,

7 From in or about Decembar 2001, through in or about early-2007, "Bmployee
€. a'U.S. citizen, was the head of intomational sales for AGA.

8. In or about December 1998, AGA entered into an agrecment with a Chinegs
corupany to be the sole distributor of AGA products in China. An employee of that company,
“ﬁ\eChmnhuibum."aChinsadﬁmmthonheAGAmmnm
eompanyandwthomai;pohtofwnbatﬁxAGA. In or ebout 1999, the Chincss Distributor
Jeft his employer to form his own company. AGA moved its business from the initial company

%o the Chinase Distributor’s now company and AGA mainteined e business relationship with the

Chinsse Distributor and his company untit AGA. suspended the shipment of products to the
Chinese Distributor in June 2005. On or sbout April 12, 2006, AGA terminated its agresment
with the Chiness Distributor.




9. The Chinsss Distributor was authorized to sell AGA products, negoﬁatepx_icca,
and employ salespeople. The Chiness Distributor®s primary customess were bospitals owned
and operated by the government of China and government-employee phyzioians working et those
hospitals.

10.  Govemment-owned and controlled bospitals in China are “instrumentalitios >
of the Chinese government and phyzsicians employed by such hospitals exe “foreigu officials,” as
those texms ure used in the FCPA, 15US8.C. § 78dd-2(b)(2)(A). ,

11,  Inorabout December 1997, Offiver A, on bahelf of AGA, signed and executed &
distributorship sgreement with ths company that then employed the Chinese Distributor.

12.  Onorabout December 20, 1997, the Chinese Digtributor sent an email from
China to Officer A in Minnesota informing Officer A that bospitals in Chine were asking for a
10% *discount” and physicians were asking for a 10% “commisgion™ on products sold. Tho
Chinsss Distributor further informed Officer A that if AGA did not accopt those terms, the
hospitals aud physicians would not puschass AGA's products.

13. mmabon;-lmuuylws,ﬁecmninmmmvdadﬁam@imto
Minnesota to discuss with Officer A, among other things, the prices that the Chinese Distributor
would chergs for AGA"s products and the kickbacks that the Chiness Distributor would pay to
physicians in China in order to induce them to purchbase AGA's products.

14. Onorabomm16,1998,0fﬁcuﬁaentm&mﬂm&a&inesebilm
stating: “T understand that the fee you must pay each physician wes to be included in your selling
price, It should therefore not be an iscue.”




15.  Inorabout December 1998, Officer A, on behalf of AGA, signed and exccuted a
second distributorship agreement with the company that then employed the Chinase Distributor.

16.  Inorabout 1999, after the Chiness Distributor lef his original employer to stat
kis own company, Officer A, on behalf of AGA, entered into & distributorship agrecment with
the Chinesc Distributor’s new company.

17.  On or sbout February 1, 2000, the Chinsse Distributor again traveled from China
to Minnesota to discuss with Officer A, among other things, the prices that the Chineso.
Distributor would charge in China for AGA's procucts and the kickbacks that the Chinsse
Distributor would pay to physicians in China to indnce them to purchase AGA's products.

18.  On or about March 19, 2001, the Chingse Distributor sent an email from China
to Employee B in Minnesotz stating that the Chinese Distributor had, to that point, peid
$460,000 in “commissions” to physicians in China aud hiad also contacted a Chinese patent
official to whom he would have to pay money. ‘The Chinese Distsibutor wrote, “This week I
have maken [sic] an appointment with one key pesson in Ching knowledge andl’aml’mtoehnn
Burem.AnyactianinCh;sImunpaymmywdo.' |

19. OnorsbomMayII.NOI,MWthibum;nmmmailﬁomChim
to Officer A iz Minnosota stating thet the Chiness Distributor had met with a Chinese patent
official regarding AGA's patent application and that the officiel had agreed to speed up the
revisw of AGA’s applicstion and t “solve some problemss in different depastments i ber
burcau” related to the application. The Chiness Distributor explained in the ewmsil that he would




have to “sponsor” the patent official for this work and asked Officer A if AGA would agres to
~ coverthat cost. By return exoail on or about that sams day, Officer A agreed, an behalf of AGA,
to covar the fes to be paid to the Chineso patent official by the Chiness Distributo, stating, *T
am still in agreement with our prior discussions and will cover her fee as long a5 wo can get the
{sic] patent issued in & timely manner.”

20 On or sbout July 24, 2001, the Chinese Distributor sent &n email from China to
Officer A. in Minnesota stating: “Vexy good ncws that your pateats have been taken out from the
stock and begun to check by the observation psople. My friends told me that if there are any

news, they will tell me. I think we will win this war if we can get the patent approvenment [sic].

I cantacted with two officials working in different dopartments. They will help us from different
ways. They don’t know each other and don’t know I ssked two people to helpus . . . About .
your new product, my frisnd told me that you should ask your agent to apply the invent and
practical patents sametime [sic]. Ican ask my friend fo belp to approve the practival patent in
one yuar and get 10 years protection.”

21, _ Onur-abo;trohuuyﬁ,zmmcmnmbism’bumuntmemﬁl&omadm
to Bmployes C in Minnesota stating: “Please inform [Officer A] don’t give up the application
for the firet three patents in Chine. Iwill contact with the officials of China patent btreau again
efter Chingss new year. Maybe money will help us.”

22.  Onocabout March 20, 2002, the Chinese Distributor seat 2a emadl fromi China
informing Officer A that the Chinsse Distributor had paid $20,000 to the patent official to




approve patents for AGA products and that: “Ljost need the results of patsnts approved no
matter what way he do.” |

23.  Onoraebout April 17, 2002, the Chiness Distributor sent an email from China o
Officer A stating: “Today my friend tells me that one of your last two pateats have been
approved and the other ons will be approved soon,” ‘

24.  Onorabout October 18, 2002, the Chinese Distributor sent an email fiora China
to Officer A sialing that the Chinese Distributer wae curreatly paying & “reward” to sach
Physician who purchased an AGA produst in an amount rsnging from $300 to $1,000 per
product purchased. _

25, On.or sbout October 31, 2002, Bmployee C sent 2 memo to Officer A listing
the then-cwrrent prices for varions AGA products in China snd including a cohumn entiffed
“Reward to Physicians,” with dollar amounts listed for each product. On or about this sams
date, Employee C band-wrote a notation reading, “OK, cffictive immediately,” at the top of this
memo. -

26. Onorubc;tOctoborZI,zom,EmployeeC-wmumomdumwOﬁcuA
and othier AGA employess reporting on his receat trip to China, The memorandum contwined a
chart of then-current prices being charged for various AGA produats in China and contained &
notation reflecting the amouat of the “rebates™ givan by the Chinese Distributor to physicians.

'27. On or about December 2, 2003, the Chinese Distributor sent an email to
Bmployee C regarding pricing for AGA products in China which stated: “My company alvo need
to provids 20% kickback for physicians and sometimes 10% discount to hospitals.”




28. Onsbout December 5, 2003, the Chinese Distributer sent an email from China
to Bmployce C, explaining how physicians at hospitals in China selocted produots for purchase: .
“The physicians suggest the patient to use which davice according {to] the patient’s family
economic ability and the kickbeck.”

28.  On or about February 26, 2005, the Chinese Distributor sent an email ﬁom China
to Bmployee C providing Employee C with 1 list of then-current prices being charged for various
AGA products in China and informing Employwe C that the Chinese Distributor was paying
physicians kickbacks af 15% to 25% of the purchasge price.

30.  Between 1997 and 2005, AGA regularly shipped its products from Minnesota to
the Chiness Distributor in China, via interstate and international freight carriers, for sale by the
Chincse Distributor at the prices, and pursuant to the terms, discussed end agreed to by AGA,
Officer A, Employes B, Employee C, the Chinese Distribator and others.

31, Between 1997 and 2005, AGA sslos in China totaled approximately $13.5

million,




WHEREAS, AGA MEDICAL CORPORATION ("AGA™ or, “the Company”) hes beea
engaged in discussions with the United States Department of Justice, Criminal Division, Fraud
Section (“the Departmont™) in connection with issuos arising in relation to certain corrupt
payments to foreign officials to facilitate the award of contracts and obtaining business for the
Company; and ;

WHEREAS, in order to rosolve such discussions, it is proposed that the Company eter
iato a certain agrecmont with the Department; and

WHERBAS the Company’s Genral Counssl, together with investigative and outside
counsel for the Company, have advised the Board of Directors of the Company’s rights, possible
defenses, tho Scatencing Guidelines’ provisions, and the consequences of entering into such
agreement with tlie Department;

Therefore, this Board hereby RESOLVES that:

L mComﬁ;ny(i)menumtheﬂﬁng-intbuUniudSmDisﬁachtfurme
District of Minnesota of 2 two~count Information charging AGA with conspiracy to commit an
offenss against the United States, namely, toviolmthoruciancmpthﬁcea Act (“FCPA™)
(15 U.8.C. § 78dd-2(a)(1), in violation of 18 USsC. § 371 (Count Ons); and the peyment of
bribes, in violation of 15 U.5,C. § 78dd-2 and 18 U.8.C. § 2 (Count Two); (i) waives indictment
on such charges and enters into & Deferred Prosecution Agreement with the Department; end (iii)
agrees to accspt a monetary penalty against AGA of $2,000,000, and to pay $2,000,000 to the
United Statos Treasury with respect to the conduct described in the Information.




2. The General Counsel, or his delegats, is herehy authorized, empowered and
direoted, an behalf of the Company, to execute the Deferred Prosecution Agreement
substantially in such form as reviewed by this Board of Directors at this meeting with such
changes as the General Counascl, ox his delepats, may approve;

3. The General Counsel, or his delegate, is hercby authorized, cmpowered and
directed to take any and all actions as may be necessary or appropriate, and to approve the forms,
tormsorprovicionsMmyaymoromumuumyummyormﬁmm
carry out and effectuate the purpose and intent of the foregoing resolutions; and

4, All of the actions of the General Counsel, which actions would have beea
avthorized by the foregoing resolutions except that such actions wers taken prior to the adoption
of such resolutions, are hereby severally ratified, confinned, approved end adopted as actions on
behalf of the Company.

Date: ﬁ@ﬂ‘&, 2008 WJO
B Secrelary )
of Direstors

AGA Medicsl Corporation
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ATTACHMENT C
' CORPORATE COMPLIANCE PROGRAM

Tn order to address deficienciss in its interal controls, policies and procedures regarding
compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Aot (‘FCPA™), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, eteg., and
other applicable anti-corruption laws, AGA Madical Corporation (“AGA") agrees to conduct, in
# manner consistent with this Agrecment, & eview of its existing internal controls, policies and
procedures. :

Where necessary and appropriste, AGA further agrees to adopt new or 1o modify
existing internsl controls, policics and procedures in order to ensure that it maintaing: (a) &
system of internal accounting controls deaigned to ensure that AGA makes and keopa fair and
accurate books, records and acoounts; and (b) & rigorous anti-corruption compliance cade,
standards and procedures designed to detect and deter violations of the FCPA. and other
applicable anti-corruption. [aws, At a minimum, this shoudd include, but ought not be limited to,
the following elements: ‘

1. A clearly ;;ﬁcxﬂaud sorporate policy against violations of the FCPA and other
appliceble anti-corruption iawa. 4

2. Ausystem of financial and sccounting proceduses, including & system of intemel
accounting controls, designed to ensure the maintonance of fair snd acourats books, records and
secounts.

3. Promulgation of compliance standards and procedures designed to reduce the
prospect of violations of the RCPA, other applicabls enti-corruption laws and AGA’s compliance
code. These standards and procedures should pply to all directors, officers and employees end,
where necessary and appropriate, outsids parties acting o behalf of AGA in foreign '




jurisdictions, including agents, consultants, representatives, distributors, teaming partners and
Jjoint venture partners (collocﬁvo!}r referred to as “agents and business pariners™).

4, The sssigrment of responsibility to one or mare senior corporate officials of
AGA for the implementstion and oversight of compliance with policies, standards end
procedures regarding the FCPA and other epplicable anti-corruption laws. Such corporate
official(s) shall have tho nuthority to report matiers directly to AGA’s Board of Directors.

5. Mechanisms designed to easurs that the policies, standands and procedures of
AGA regarding the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws are effectively
communicated o all directors, officers, employees and, where necessary and appropriate, egents
and business partners. These mechanizms shall include: (A) pesiodic training for all such
directors, oiﬁws, employees, sgents and business parters; and (B) annnal certifications by all
such directors, officers, employses, agents mdbusinuspuhem.eurﬁfyhgcgmpﬁamwﬁhthe
training requirements.

6. Aneffective sysiem for reporting suspected criminal conduct and/ar violations of
the compliance policies, mndards mnd procedures regarding the FCPA and other upplicablo anti-
corcuption laws for direstors, officers, suployess, ageats and business parters,
| 7. Appropriate disciplinary procedures to address, mong other things, violations of
the FCPA, other applicable anti-corruption lawe or AGA’s compliance cods by directors,
officers, employees, agents snd business partnets.

8. 'Appmpﬁateduediliwerequimnm pertuining to the retention and oversight
of agents and business partnecs. '




9, Standard provisions in sgreemeats, contracts, aud renswals thereof with all
agents and business partners which are designed to prevent violations of the FCPA. and other
spplicable anti-corruption lawe, which provigions may, depending upon the circumstances,
inclids: (A) anti-corruption represantations and undertakings relating to compliance with the
FCPA and other applicable anti-cotruption laws; (B) rights to conduct eudits of the books arid
records of the agent or business partner to ensure compliance with the foregoing; and (C) rights
to texminate an agent or business pastner as & result of any breach of anti-carruption laws, and
regulations or representations and undertakings related to such matters,




ATTACHMENT D
INDEPENDENT CORPORATE MONITOR
1. Within sixty (60) calendar days of the execution of this Agreement, AGA.

MEDICAL CORPORATION (“AGA” ar “the Company”) agrees to engage an indepondent
cor.poratc monitor (the “Monitor”) for a period of three (3) years. The Monitor’s primary
responsibility is to agsess and monitor the Company’s compliance with the terms of this
Agrpement 80 2 to specifically address and xeduce the risk of any recurrence of the Company’s
misconduct, including evaluating the Company’s corporate compliance program with reapect fo
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA™), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78dd-1, ¢ seq., aud othex rolevant
anfi~corruption Iaw:s. Within thirty (30) calendar days after the signing of this Agreement, and
after congultation with the Department, AGA will proposs to the Department a candidate to
serve as the Monitor, The Monitor shall have, at a minimum, the following qualifications:

& demanstrated expertise with respect to the FCPA, including experience
counseling on FCPA issucs;

b, experiencs desigaing and/or reviewing oouporate complisnos policie,
procedures and interoal controls, includi.ng FCPA-spesific policies, procedures and controls;

C the ability to access and deploy resources ag necessary 1o discharge the
Monitor*s duties a8 described in the Agreement; and

d sufficient independence from AGA to cosore effective and impartial
performance of the Monitor's duties a3 described in the Agresmeat.

2, The Department retains the right, in its acle discretion, to accopt or rojeot the

Monitor proposcd by AGA. pursuant to the Agreement. In the cvent the Department rejects a
gproposed monitor, AGA shall propose another candidate within ten (10) calendar days after




receiving notice of the rejection. This process shall continue until a Monitor acceptable to all
pesties is chosen. Tthonimr'atetmsball\;eﬂneeG)ymﬁ-omthedateonwhichﬁds
Agreement was signed, subject to extension or ezdy termination as described in Paragraph 3 of
ths Asreemmt.‘ The Monitor’s duties and euthority, and the obligations of AGA with respect to
the Monitor and the Dopartment, ere set forth below.

3. AGA agrees that it will not employ or be affiliated with the Monitor for a period
of not lsss then one year from the date the Monitor's work has caded. - .

4,  The Monitor will review end evaluate the effectivencss of AGA’s internal
controls, record-keeping, and financial reporting policies and procedures as they relate to AGA’s
compliance with the books and recosds, internal accounting controls and anti-bribery provisions
of the FCPA, sud ofher spplicable suti-corruption laws. This review and evaluation shall include
an asgessment of those policies and procedures as actually implemented. The rotoation
agreement between AGA and the Monitor will reference this Agreement and includs this
Agrocment ss an. attachment 5o the Monitor is fully pprised ofhis or bt duties and
responsibilities. :

5. AQGA shall cooperate fully with the Monitor and the Monitor sball have the
authority to take such reasonable steps e3, in bis or her view, may be necessary to bo fully
informed about the complisnce program of AGA within the scope of bis or her responsibilities

under this Agreement. To that end, AGA shall provids the Monitor with recess to all
" information, documents, records, facilities and/or employess that falt within the scope of
respansibilitiea of the Monltor under this Agreement. Any such disclosure by AGA, to the




Monitor concerning corrupt payments, related books axd recards and related internal controls
shall not reliove AGA of its obligation truthfully to disclose such mattera to ths Department.

ﬁ. The parties agres that the Monitor is an independont third-party, not an
employes or agent of AGA or the Department, and that no atterney-client relationship shsll be
formed batwoon AGA and the Monitor,

b, In the event that AGA sesks to withhold from the Monitor access to
information, documeats, records, facilities and/or employees of AGA on grounds thatﬂ!:e
infosmation, documents, records, facilitics and/or employess ere protected from disclosure by
the attormey-clicnt privilege or tho attomey work-product doctrine, AGA shall promptly provide
writben notice of this determination to the Monitor and the Department, Sich notice shall
include 2 general description of the nature of the information, doouments, records, facilities
and/or smployees that aro being withheld, 2s well as the basis for the claim, The Depariment
may then consider whether to make a further request for access to such information, documents,
records, fhoilities and/or employcss, as provided in Paragraph 5(a) of the Agreement.

c. Ex.;optupxovﬁodhmkpmguph,mmwwhhholdﬁamlho
Moxﬁ&nnyinfmmuﬁw,dpmm&s,mwxda,fadﬁﬁumdloramplcyeesonthahaﬁu ofan
attomey-client privilege or work product claim.

6. AGA aprees that:

e The Monitor shall asseas whether AGA’s existing policies and procedures
"are ressonably desigued to dstect and provent viclations of the FCPA and ofher sppliceble anti-
corTuption lawe.




—— s

b.  The Monitor shall evaluate AGA’s compliance with this Agresment.

¢.  The Monitor shall averses AGA's implementation of and adherence to all
existing, modified or new policies and procedures relating to FCPA complisnce (ths “Policies
end Procedures™), including the minimum policiwan(}pmeedumm&tﬁ:inmtachmc.

d.  The Monitor shall ensure that the Policies and Procedzires are
sppropuistely designed to sccomplish their goals.

e mﬁngﬁethue@)ywmmmmmuwmmwm
and prepare an initial report, followsd by two follow-up roviews and roports as described below:

@)  Withrespectto cech of tho threo (3) roviews, after iniial
consuuaﬁoaswwzAdAmdmenepuw,maMmimmum.wﬁmmmfm
u&mw,mmummmue&mmmmhmwmenmmm =
onder to conduct an effective initial review and to understand fully any existing deficiencies in
controls, policies and procedures rolated to the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption laws,
the Monitor's initial work plan shall include such steps 88 &re reasonably necessary to dsvelop an
understanding of the ficts sad cirsumstances surounding auy violations that may bave occuzred,
but the parties do not intond that the Monitar will canduct his or her owa inquiry into thoso
histocical ovents. Any disputes betwecn AGA and the Monitor with respect to the work plan
shall be decided by the Depmtment in its solo discretion. -

()  Tnconnection with the initial review, the Monitor shall iasuo s
written report within one hundred tweaty (120) calendar days of kis or ber retention setting forth
tho Monitor's assessment sud, if appropriate and necessary, meking recommendations
reasonably designed to improve the policies and procedres of AGA for ensuring complience




with the FCPA and othsr applicable anti-corruption laws. The Monitor shall provide the report
to the Board of Directors of AGA and contemporeneously transmit copies to Mark F.
Mendelsohn {or his successar), Deputy Chief, Fraud Section, Criminal Division, U.S.
Department of Justice, 10™ and Constitution Ave,, N.W., Bo#d Building, Fourth Floor,
Washington, DC 20530. The Monitor may extend the time period for issuance of the report with
prior written epproval of the Department,

(ii) Within ope-hundred twenty (120) calendar days sfter mc‘mvmg
the Monitor's report, AGA shall adopt the recommendations set forth in the repost; provided,
however, that within sixty (60) calendar days after receiving the report, AGA shall advise the
Monitor and the Department in writing of any recommendations that AGA considers unduly
burdensome, impractical, costly or otherwise inadvisable, With respect to any recommendation
that AGA considers unduly bardensome, impractical, costly of otherwiss inadvissble, AGA noed
not adopt that recommendation; instead, AGA may propose in writing an eltemative policy,
procaduze or system designed to achieve the same objective or pumpose. As to any
recommendation oﬁwhiol;AGA and the Monitor ultimately do not agres, the views of AGA and
the Monitor shall proxaptly be brought to the attention of the Department. The Departmont may
oongider the Monitor's recommendation and the Compsny’s reasons for not adopting the
recommendation in determining whether AGA has fully complied with its obligations under this
-Agreemeat. .

Gv)  The Monitor shall wndertake two follow-up revisws to further
monitor end assess whether the policies and proosdures of AGA mreasombly deaigned to
dotect and provent violations of the FCPA and other applicable anti-cormuption laws.




()  Within sixty (60) calender days of initiating cach follow-up.
Teview, the Monitor shall: (A) complets the review; (B) cextify whether the anti-bribery
-compliance program of AGA, including its policies and procedures, is appropriately designsd
and implemeated to ensure compliance with the FCPA and other applicable anti-corruption lawa;
and(C)rspo:toutheMonimt’sﬁndingsindwmfashionuwid:mspectwthnhiﬁdmviow.

| (vl)  The first follow-up review and repost shall bs completed by ono

yemﬁaihmimm.mmmmm-@mmEmmmb;mmwm
year after the completion of the first follow-up review.

(vil) The Monitor may extend the time period for submission of the
follow-up reports with prior written approval of the Department, |

7 In vadertaking the assessments and reviews described above, the Momitor xbalt
formulsts concinsions based on, among other things: (x) inspection of relsvant documents,
including all the policies and procsdures relating to AGA’s anti-corruption compliznce program;
(b} onsite observation of AGA's systetns and procedores, including its intsmal controls, record-
 keeping and intecnal audit procaduree; (c) meetings with, end interviews of, relevant employees,
oﬂim.dxmdumdoﬁaw;&numﬂymmiwtﬁmxmdphoe&md@mﬂym.
studics md testing of AGA’s anti-corruption compliance program.

8. Should the Monitor, during the conrse of his or ber engagement, discover
credible evidence that questionabls or corrupt payments or questionable or carrupt transfers of
propeutyorhMmayhawbemoffued,pmmlud,paidmmﬂmdmdbyanyAﬁAmmyor
posson, or any eatity or person working directly or indivectly for AGA, or that related false
booksmdrwordahwubmminhhnd,theMonimahaﬂpmmpﬁympnﬂmchwndmw




AGA's General Counsel, its Board of Diractors, and its outside counse! for further investigation,
unless the Monitor balieves, in the exercige of his or her discretion, that such disclosurs should
be made dirsctly to the Department. If the Monitor refers the matter only to AGA’s Genaral
Counsol, its.Bomi of Directors, and its outside counsel, AGA shall prompfly repart the sams to
theDapMarﬂwnﬁempomwuslymﬁfymoMoniwrthunwhmpmhume. It
AQGA fails to make disclosure to the Department within ten (10) calondar days of the Monitor’s
report of such conduct to AGA, the Monitor shall independently disclose his or hec findings to
the Department at the address listed in Paragraph 6(e)(ii) above. Further, in the event that AGA,
or any eatity or person working directly or indirectly for AGA, refuses %o provide information
necessary for the perfonnance of the Monitor's responsibilities, the Monitor shall promptly
disclore that fact to the Department. AGA shali not take any action to retaliate against the
Monitor for any such disclosures or for any other reason. The Monitor may repost other crimipal
or regulatory violations discovered in the conras of performing his or her duties, in tho sams
manuer as described above.




